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            Dr Akong Tulku Rinpoché

         

         Sir Chris Bonington and Dr Charles Clarke, the two authors of Tibet’s Secret Mountain, are friends of Samye Ling. In 1998 Charles Clarke and Elliot Robertson were among the first visitors to my monastery, Dolma Lhakhang in Kham, eastern Tibet. This made me very happy.

         The members of these three expeditions wish to preserve the natural beauty of this land. Their illustrated account of this remote region will, I am sure, interest readers and I wish them every success in this venture.

         
             

         

         Dr Akong Tulku Rinpoché

         Kagyu Samyé Ling Tibetan Centre, Eskdalemuirviii

      

   


   
      
         
ix
            Authors’ Note

         

         These three expeditions came to fruition only with the help of many people, in Britain, in Nepal and in Tibet itself. We thank all those who helped us, in particular National Express, without whose generous financial assistance the 1998 trip would have been difficult, if not impossible.

         The expeditions were very much team efforts and we would like to record here our thanks to all our fellow members for their single-minded resolve on the mountain, for their contributions to the text and for making their photographs available. We would also like to thank Frances Daltrey who runs Chris’s picture library for organising and keeping track of the thousands of transparencies taken by expedition members. We also appreciated the detailed first-line editing carried out by Louise Wilson, Chris’s secretary.

         Our most enduring memories are of the hardy people of the Sepu Kangri region, whose kindness, honesty and humour made these journeys so worthwhile.

         
             

         

         Chris Bonington

         Charles Clarke

         February 1999 x
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            1 The White Snow God

            1982–1986

            Chris Bonington

         

         There were jagged peaks, sinuous ridges and glaciers stretching into the far distance to the northern horizon. We peered through the scratched, slightly bleared windows of the old Russian turboprop, jockeying for position, climbing over each other to get a view and photographs of this mountain feast. It was March 1982 and we were on our way to the North-East Ridge of Everest. Before dawn that morning we had boarded the plane bound for Lhasa at Chengdu, in south-west China. Barely half an hour airborne, we had started flying over this huge mountain range. We were somewhere in Tibet to the north and east of Lhasa. There were six of us on the 1982 Everest expedition: Peter Boardman, Joe Tasker, Dick Renshaw and I were going to make the first attempt on the ridge, while Charlie Clarke, our doctor, and Adrian Gordon were in support. We also had with us a trekking group from our sponsors, Jardine Matheson. The trekkers, more restrained, remained in their seats, but as climbers we were too excited by this intriguing, unexpected range of mountains. There were cries of, ‘They must be at least 6,000 metres.’

         ‘Look at that peak over there. It could be even higher.’

         ‘I wonder if anyone has ever been into them?’

         ‘Where on earth are they?’

         But then the peaks became smaller and soon we were losing height to land at Lhasa airport. The fascination of that ancient city and the challenge of the North-East Ridge of Everest filled our minds and the vision of those endless peaks receded.

         Two years later I received an intriguing letter from an armchair traveller and map enthusiast called Frank Boothman. He was fascinated by the geography of Tibet and had noticed on the US Air Force (USAF) pilotage charts a range of peaks of over 7,000 metres to the north-east of Lhasa, the highest being shown as 7,350 metres, which would make it the highest point on the Tibetan plateau. He very kindly sent me the air charts and examination showed that this peak could well be the mountain that seemed to dominate all around it, the very one that we had seen from the plane from Chengdu to Lhasa. At the same time he warned me that the altitudes given were not over accurate and would almost certainly err on the high side.2

         At the time I had other projects to which I gave a higher priority. Yet the thought of those mysterious mountains in eastern Tibet remained in the back of my mind. Frank Boothman kept the spark alight with the occasional fresh piece of information, and in 1987 the Royal Geographical Society (RGS) published a map and gazetteer of the mountains of Central Asia. Sure enough, our mountain was there at 30.91°N, 93.78°E, and 7,350 metres high, but this hardly confirmed its true height since the RGS map had used existing material, largely from the USAF flight charts. But the gazetteer served to focus my interest, and I enthused about it to Jim Fotheringham, a regular climbing mate of mine with whom I had shared local climbs in the Lakes, sorties up to Scotland, a lightning trip to Shivling in the Gangotri Himalaya in 1983 and an attempt in 1987 on Menlungtse in southern Tibet. Our trip to Shivling had been one of the best I had ever undertaken. With just two of us the organisation and decision-making process had been so wonderfully simple. The climb had been committing, for once at the mountain we changed our objective from the one we had researched. We climbed the west summit (6,500 metres) of Shivling on sight, making the first ascent alpine style, taking four days for the climb and then descending in one day down the north-west side – because we thought the line of our ascent was too dangerous to reverse. We talked of using the same tactics on this mysterious mountain in eastern Tibet.

         But in trying to reach our mountain in 1989 or even find its name I was to draw a blank. We had experienced problems with the Chinese Mountaineering Association the previous year on our second trip to Menlungtse. On that occasion we had been delayed in Kathmandu for a fortnight whilst another organisation, the Tibet Mountaineering Association (TMA), disputed the right of the Chinese to give us permission for a mountain that was not on their original list. This time, after numerous enquiries, I eventually made contact with a travel agent in Hong Kong who assured me he could get us permission through the Tibet Mountaineering Association. We were a week from setting out. Jim and I had bought our air tickets to Hong Kong, found sponsorship and had our bags packed. We then received a fax from the TMA. It told us they were very sorry they could not give us permission for this area, but that we could apply through the Chinese Mountaineering Association for another mountain. We considered the peaks on offer, but none had the fascination of the unknown centre of Tibet. Disillusioned, we gave up all thoughts of Tibet and used the time to go climbing in the far north of Scotland.

         I put Tibet to the back of my mind for a few years and became immersed in other projects. In 1991 I sailed to Greenland with Robin Knox-Johnston with the aim of taking him up an unclimbed peak on the east coast. It was through this expedition that I came to know Jim Lowther, a twenty-five-year-old Lakeland climber who had extensive experience of travelling in Greenland. He came with us and as a result became a good friend, sharing in other 3adventures. In 1992 I went to the Panch Chuli massif in India with a joint Indian/British expedition, then back to Greenland in 1993 to climb more of the wonderful granite needles we had seen in 1991. An exploratory expedition to Kinnaur in northern India followed in 1994, once again with Harish Kapadia who had been co-leader of our Panch Chuli expedition. It was the tenth anniversary of the successful Norwegian Everest expedition in 1995 and we were all reunited to attempt the first ascent of Drangnag Ri, a shapely unclimbed peak of 6,801 metres about fifteen miles east of Everest in Nepal. I seemed to go strongly and was a member of the summit team.

         I found it almost a shock that I was now sixty. Yet my enthusiasm for climbing remained the same as when I was in my twenties. I had discovered a pattern and style of climbing that I loved, going to little known places off the beaten track to attempt unclimbed peaks with small groups of friends whose company I enjoyed. I have often been asked if climbs I have done after reaching the top of Everest have not been an anti-climax. The very reverse has been true. I really did need to reach the top of Everest and will always be grateful to Arne Næss, leader of the Norwegian Everest expedition, for making it possible. I don’t think I realised how much I needed to climb Everest until I stood there in 1985. I find it difficult to define just what it meant to me. I was making neither a first ascent nor a new route. I was climbing it by the easiest possible route, via the South Col, with a strong team of Sherpas and masses of oxygen. I think I was the 236th person to get there. Yet reaching the summit was more than just the satisfaction of ego, though there was undoubtedly some of that. It was a milestone which marked the end of a chapter that had been full of challenges, uncertainty and also sorrow, of lost friends and difficult decisions. It had also been a time of tremendous stimulus and enjoyment. Friends have commented on the fact that after reaching the top of Everest I became much more relaxed. The ascent certainly gave me the freedom to pursue the kind of climbing that really attracted me.

         At the Norwegian Everest reunion in 1995 I had already been thinking once more of that mysterious mountain in Tibet. You need to be one expedition ahead of yourself at all times if you want an annual trip to interesting places, so I started making enquiries in early 1995. I heard that the Tibet International Sports Travel (TIST), a trekking company in Lhasa, part owned by the Tibetan local government, were reliable and effective. I was agreeably surprised when they replied promptly to my faxes, and told me that there would be no problem at all in organising our trip to the area I indicated on a map. They offered a fixed price for organising the entire expedition in the spring of 1996. It all seemed too easy.

         And so to forming a team for 1996. This too seemed easy, at first. I decided to stick with a formula that had worked well in the past, inviting Jim Fotheringham with whom I had had so many good times in the hills. I also asked Jim Lowther and Graham Little, both of whom had been with me on 4three separate occasions. All four of us had been on the Kinnaur expedition in 1994. Charlie Clarke would join us as doctor. After some discussion we decided we would like to make a film of our trip and asked Jim Curran to come. He is a climbing film-maker and good friend who once again had been with me on several expeditions. I also invited Paul Nunn, whom both Jim Curran and I had known for many years.

         In the summer of 1995, after returning from Drangnag Ri, life became more complicated. I was invited to join an intriguing Norwegian expedition to Antarctica to attempt a formidable rock pinnacle jutting a thousand metres out of the ice cap. This trip was scheduled for November 1996 so I thought I’d be able to go on both expeditions, but I became heavily committed in the search for sponsorship for the Antarctic. I also realised that I would have to start training for high standard technical climbing if I was to be more than a passenger on the Antarctic climb. In addition, the Tibet trip was beginning to look less simple. In the summer of 1995 I learned that Tibet International Sports Travel were in conflict with the China Tibet Mountaineering Association, which claimed they were the only body allowed to handle mountaineering expeditions. I had become a little worried when our contact with TIST had urged us not to mention we wanted to climb mountains in any of our applications. They then stopped answering my faxes. Things were obviously becoming difficult.

         After much agonising, I decided I could not possibly do justice to both expeditions and decided to give priority to the Antarctic venture. My colleagues continued trying to get the Tibet expedition off the ground, but had difficulty both in raising sponsorship and securing permission. They finally decided to postpone the trip until the following year. I also had been having a hard time. I became increasingly aware that, although the thought of an unexplored mountain range in Antarctica was fascinating, that of spending up to twenty days on a featureless rock tower, living on a portaledge with people I did not know at all well was less appealing. After much soul searching I decided to pull out.

         I invited Jim Fotheringham, Jim Lowther and Graham Little out to dinner to see if they would have me back in the team, and whether we could focus once again on our expedition to Tibet for the following year, 1997. It was a delightful evening and brought home to me how important it is to work with friends whom one knows and trusts. But I was left without an expedition for 1996. I began to consider whether it would be possible to organise a reconnaissance of this remote Tibetan region. This would be very useful not only to help us find the mountain and the best approach for climbing it, but it would also enable us to negotiate directly with the China Tibet Mountaineering Association. Charlie was the only member of the team who could get away, so we decided to go out as a pair, at short notice, early in August 1996. After a few phone calls I was given the name of a Tibetan based on Kathmandu, 5Mr Tse Dorje, who was a good fixer with the right connections. He told us he could provide a jeep, guide, cook and driver for $5,000 a head. Charlie and I bought our airline tickets and decided to risk a journey into the unknown.

         We also learnt a little more about our mountain from an unexpected source. Ian McNaught-Davis, an old friend of mine, had recently become President of the UIAA (the international body representing all national mountaineering associations). He had just come back from a meeting in Seoul in Korea and had been given a book of photographs of Tibetan mountains. It was a wonderful book with page after page of peaks, most of which were unclimbed and had never before been visited or photographed, some which were great featureless hummocks jutting out of arid plateau, and others which were icy towers and jagged rocky pinnacles. Enough unclimbed peaks to keep anyone occupied for several lifetimes. And our mountain was there. The book was very well documented, with not only the coordinates of each mountain photographed but also the direction from which the picture had been taken. It meant that we could identify our mountain as a peak named Sepu Kangri. It even gave its height as 6,956 metres, and there was a map of the massif itself. The peak was the highest in the eastern section of a range called the Nyenchen Tanglha which stretched across central Tibet.

         My reaction to this information was mixed. It was reassuring to see a picture of at least one aspect of the mountain, and to know that, though it appeared to be a complex snow peak guarded by séracs, it looked climbable. But publication did take away some of the magic of being totally unknown. Still, the photographers, who had been from the Chinese Mountaineering Association, were probably the only outsiders who had ventured into the region. Theirs had been a fleeting visit. Certainly, no non-Chinese climber seemed to have been anywhere near the mountain. It remained a challenge that there was a range of 5,000–7,000-metre peaks, comparable in length to the entire Swiss Alps, that was still completely unknown.

         This book is the story of three expeditions; our reconnaissance to the Sepu Kangri region in 1996, and two subsequent expeditions in 1997 and 1998. It is also a story about people; about our own relations as small teams during these trips; and about the people who lived below this great mountain, their families, their lives and problems. Sepu Kangri had a special significance for them, embodied in the translation of its local name, the White Snow God.

         Before leaving for Tibet in 1996 I started to attempt to trace the early European travellers who might have visited neighbouring regions. Charlie continued this research and discovered that, whilst several European travellers had passed close by Sepu Kangri, this peak remained elusive, unseen and unknown to the outside world.
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            2 Missionaries, Map-makers and the Military

            1160–1940

            Charles Clarke

         

         Interest in terrestrial exploration of the remote areas of Asia has become a little unfashionable these days. Partly this is because many past claims of travel ‘where no man had gone before’ have proved either specious, exaggerated, or referred exclusively to the white man, or more particularly, the journeys of ‘Englishmen’. We must remember that since medieval times vast areas said to be unknown and uncharted had been the arteries of trade between Tibet and its neighbours — China, India, Nepal and Bhutan. If not mapped in any conventional way, these routes across high passes and through gorges were known intimately to the yak caravans and horsemen of the plateau, the armies of China, and to traders on the great highway between Peking and Lhasa, known as the Gya Lam, meaning simply ‘The Road’. This yak route runs along the southern border of the Nyenchen Tanglha, or Tangla Mountains of older maps. It would be all too easy to claim that what is now called the eastern Nyenchen Tanglha was unknown when, in reality, Tibetans and Chinese had been travelling through these mountains at least since the time of the Armada. Perhaps another reason for waning interest is that filming and photography, especially of mountain areas, portray vivid yet similar landscapes, regardless of remoteness. It becomes difficult to interest a contemporary audience. The view of such-and-such a range, or this-and-that pass which has never before been crossed somehow seems banal when captured on film. Are these places, the camera asks, so very different from the Himalaya, now often a land of package tours? The woodcut, and aquatints were better media for creating that aura of mystery.

         Such a view had not always been so. The fascination with Central Asian travel, and Tibet in particular, rose to a crescendo in the early 1900s, during a time of increasing imperial control and travel within India, which boasted a comprehensive network of railways. The Survey of India had already produced an accurate series of quarter-inch maps, being second only in quality to those of the Ordnance Survey in Britain. By contrast, at that time, Tibet, that unruly nation state on the northern border of the empire, was almost uncharted. A historian writing in 1904 tells us that ‘the last and first Englishman to reach Lhasa was Thomas Manning in 1811–12; the latest European visitors to 7the capital were the French missionaries Huc and Gabet in 1846. Since then, during a lapse of nearly sixty years, none but those from Asia have gained this goal of ambition of all modern explorers.’

         The British expeditionary force, led by Colonel Francis Younghusband, that marched towards Lhasa in September 1904 attempted to change this state of affairs. This was one of Britain’s last imperial forays and the only time British troops entered Tibet, other than in border skirmishes. This military action seems to have galvanised Tibetan scholar Graham Sandberg into publishing a seminal work on early Tibetan travellers, comprehensively titled The Exploration of Tibet, its History of Particulars from 1623 to 1904. The author doubtless captured a broad audience because he added an up-to-the-minute account of Younghusband’s exploits. Sandberg had graduated at Trinity College, Dublin in 1870, and practised briefly as a barrister before taking holy orders in 1879. For the rest of his life he held chaplaincies in India; a post in Darjeeling inspired an interest in Tibet which was later to dominate his life.

         The Exploration of Tibet is of interest for several reasons. First, it provides an accurate historical record of those who had travelled there. Secondly, and perhaps without realising it, like many publications by the imperial masters of India, the book is a mine of information about prevailing attitudes towards Tibet and Tibetans, demonstrating in general little sympathy towards this land which fascinates the west so much today. Also, in this rare book there are two maps; one is an accurate street map of Lhasa as it was in 1904. The second map is of the entire Tibetan plateau; this is vague and sometimes fanciful. Neither mountain ranges nor rivers are portrayed with much accuracy. Whether this was because better maps of the Survey of India were classified as secret, or whether no such maps existed is difficult to know; certainly at that time the great majority of Tibet had had no surveys, and those that existed had been surreptitious, at the hands of the pundits, the secret surveyor-spies of the Raj. The study of previous travellers has provided a cultural and geographical backcloth to the areas we have visited and, whilst it is sometimes hard to follow precise routes, the accounts of some, at least, of the early journeys enrich our knowledge and in themselves are enthralling. It is a matter of some irony that the recorded history of the travel within Tibet comes from European sources; certainly, in part this is because of the difficulty we have locating and understanding Tibetan and Chinese texts. There are many stories here from our own imperial legacy, intrigues between opposing Christian sects battling for supremacy within Tibet, and descriptions of local customs and clothing, many of which survive today. Furthermore we can learn at first hand of the historical inter-relation between Tibet and imperial China which, with varying intensity, regarded Tibet as a fiefdom – a state of affairs rarely reciprocated by the Tibetans themselves. There are accounts of great hardship and legends of mystery travellers whose very exploits remain in doubt. For some of these 8men and women, death from natural causes far from home, or murder at the hands of the local inhabitants marked the end of a lifetime’s endeavour.

         Graham Sandberg, in this first compendium of travellers to Tibet, displayed a deep and genuine interest in the area. He had written The Handbook of Colloquial Tibetan, A Descriptive Itinerary of the Route from Sikkim to Lhasa, and later, Tibet and the Tibetans, which was published posthumously. He died, it is said of tuberculous laryngitis, in June 1904. As far as one can gather, he never visited the country himself.

         Graham Sandberg began his record of foreign visitors to Tibet in medieval times. A second putative visitor was the Franciscan friar Jean de Plano Carpini, despatched by the Pope in 1243 to visit the Mongol princes; he probably stopped west of the Karakoram. Another Franciscan, William de Rubriquis (also know as Wilhelm van Ruysbroeck) set out from Brussels in 1253. He too failed to enter Tibet, but he was the first to describe the Tibetans as a distinct people living to the east of the Karakoram. He wrote that ‘they still made offering bowls and drinking cups of skulls.’ These bowls are still on sale in the Lhasa markets. De Rubriquis was the first to record the yak as a peculiarly Tibetan creature. Marco Polo (1271) also mentioned the Tibetans but never crossed the border; he perhaps visited Sining, in western China. In 1288 Pope Nicholas IV despatched a Minorite monk, Giovanni da Montecorvino, to preach the faith in China, and later declared him Archbishop of Cambalee (Beijing); it is just possible that Montecorvino travelled across Tibet en route from India. Tibet then disappears from European writings until the seventeenth century, though before this the Society of Jesus had developed an interest in China, sending the first Jesuit missionaries there in the 1580s.

         The first certain foreign visitor to enter and cross Tibet was a Portuguese Jesuit, Antonio de Andrada, in 1626, though his route is unclear. Andrada probably visited Lake Manasarovar, in western Tibet, and travelled through to China. He wrote to his superior on 15 August 1626 from ‘The Court of the Great King at Chaparangue,’ probably Tsaparang, a town on the Sutlej in Garyarsa, western Tibet. The Jesuits in China then attempted to extend their influence west in the mid-seventeenth century. The priests Johann Grueber and Albert d’Orville reached Lhasa via Macao and Peking in 1661, taking the caravan route via Sining. They probably passed through Nakchu, and recorded a visit to the monastery of Radeng, a week or so north of Lhasa. They finally entered the Holy City, which they knew as Barantola, where they stayed for several weeks. Their drawings, subsequently engraved, depict costumes and buildings including the Potala Palace, called then the Bietala; these were published later by Father Athanasius Kircher in La Chine Illustrée. The priests were not able to see the Dalai Lama because they had made it known that they would refuse to prostrate themselves before him, or so it said. The pair continued on their remarkable journey south, eventually reaching Kathmandu 9and the neighbouring city of Patan. Their geographical observations were detailed – they placed Sining and Lhasa with some accuracy, the latter only around half a degree out.

         The next European incursion came from the south, in the form of four Capuchin friars, Domenico da Fano, Guiseppe da Ascoli, Francis Maria da Tours and Francesco Olivero Orazio della Penna. They travelled from Kathmandu in 1708, intent upon reaching Lhasa, where they were received favourably and stayed for some three or four years before their masters in Italy, having felt their expenses were too high, forced them to abandon the Lhasa mission and retreat to India. The Financial Commission in Rome of 1713 noted that for the entire series of Capuchin mission stations extending from northern India through Nepal to Lhasa, ‘A sum of 5,200 scudi [an estimated £1125] had been spent,’ and fifteen priests at various times had ‘in ten years succoured 380 dying infants and had administered Holy Baptism to two adults making them the children of God’ – a harsh reminder that the world of audit and value for money is nothing new, even in the pursuit of souls. A personal remonstration in Rome by one of the four Capuchins, Domenico da Fano, reversed the financial stringency: the Order was soon re-established. Orazio della Penna, as leader of the Lhasa Capuchin community, became involved in an amicable religious dialogue with the Dalai Lama, which ended with a document empowering the Capuchins to build a monastery or hospice, and a public church to be used for the free and unhindered exercise of the Christian religion. Presumably translating the Dalai Lama somewhat freely, della Penna added ‘because the Capuchins live in Tibet for no other purpose than to help other people and do good for all’.

         Such peace for the Lhasa Capuchins was to be short-lived. A massive flood which engulfed the city in 1725 was blamed on the Christians, who were beset by riotous mobs. Delicate negotiations between the visitors, the Mongol ruler of Lhasa, Gyalpo Telchen Batur, and the High Lama of the Samye monastery ended with the blame being shifted neatly to misdeeds of the Tibetans themselves; it even became a penal offence to molest the Capuchins. The only church in Lhasa, its site now unknown, was built. Trouble was however far from over, and came from several quarters. The Jesuits in Rome, questioning their Christian brethren’s rights to be in Tibet at all, and noting their failure to procure conversions, demanded again that the Capuchin allowances be reduced. There were also intermittent conflicts with the Tibetans, and della Penna’s health failed. He left Lhasa in April 1733 for Kathmandu, where he was promptly, if briefly, imprisoned; his remaining colleague left Lhasa later that year.

         Between 1733 and 1740 the Capuchin Lhasa mission lay abandoned. However Orazio della Penna, his health restored, was a man of iron resolve. He argued the case in Rome and secured further funds, gaining sanction from the Pope to return to Lhasa in October 1738. The party’s departure was delayed 10by, amongst other matters, surgery for della Penna’s lachrymal fistula – his tear duct – until March 1739. This was perhaps a wise precaution for the cold, dry climate of the Tibetan plateau. Particular interest surrounds this enterprise because it was recorded in minute detail by Cassiano Belligati, one of the priests in the Capuchin team. Like their predecessors, the priests travelled through Nepal, crossing the border at Nyalam, close to the present customs posts at the Friendship Bridge, where they complained of the high tolls exacted by the jong-pon, the government officer. Belligati’s narrative describes day to day life, with the diet of tsampa, tea, raw and dried meats with which we would become all too familiar. The yak caravan of 1740, with attention to the details of collecting dry yak dung for fuel, attaching loads and the method of tethering yaks at night emphasises just how little a traveller’s life has changed in 250 years.

         Once in Lhasa, the Capuchins moved back into their former house: the church was as it had been left, and for some months all seemed well. Belligati recorded, it appears, almost every meeting between members of the Order, Tibetan notables and the Chinese governors, and gave graphic accounts of religious celebrations. He and his colleagues clearly befriended some of the ruling class, as they had done on their first visit. However, before long, factions of Tibetan priesthood became hostile and friendships established with the Dalai Lama’s father, amongst others, soured. First Belligati left Lhasa, and finally on 20 April 1745 the ailing and disappointed della Penna followed with the remaining members of the Order. He died shortly afterwards and was buried in Patan, Nepal, on 20 July 1745, in a grave whose site has become lost. Shortly after della Penna’s death, news came from Lhasa that the ‘whole of the mission premises had been levelled to the ground’. Not a trace of the Capuchins remains today.

         During the Capuchin era, the Jesuits, despite an absence from Tibet of nearly a century, clung to the tenuous historical concept that they had a prior claim to work there following Antonio de Andrada’s visit in 1626. To attempt to assert this right and to report on the Capuchin endeavours, the Jesuit priest Ipolloto Desiderati had visited Lhasa in 1716, staying some five years, before being recalled by Pope Clement himself in 1721. In 1728 Desiderati presented a sixty-eight-page legal diatribe promoting the Jesuit claim. The case was finally thrown out in favour of the Capuchins by a judgement from the Congregation of the Propagation of the Faith in 1732. His cause defeated, Desiderati died in April 1733. It is bizarre to think that a formal court case had taken place in Rome over 250 years ago regarding the right to attempt to convert Tibetans. In the event, the spread of Christianity within Tibet was a spectacular failure. Had the Jesuits themselves been successful, perhaps a fate similar to that of the Incas might have befallen the culture of the Tibetans. We shall never know.

         Geographically, however, these tales from the distant past were, by and 11large, of little direct relevance to ourselves. None of these travellers seemed to have ventured close to our mountains north-east of Lhasa. But one hundred years later, it would be another party of Christian priests, also expelled from Lhasa, who would become the first to walk close by the Sepu Kangri massif. Before mentioning this last intriguing journey, the Englishman’s race for Lhasa dominates the scene.

         Some thirty years elapsed after 1745 before Tibet was visited again by Europeans, culminating in the first entry into Lhasa by an Englishman, Thomas Manning, in 1811. There had been one earlier traveller at the time of the Capuchins, the Dutchman Samuel van der Putte; his journeys across Tibet are of some interest. He probably visited Nakchu, and then travelled eastwards to China. Unfortunately, as he lay dying in Java in 1737, he burnt his diaries. We are thus dependent upon others, principally Belligati, for the record of this journey, and the ‘rude yet not greatly inaccurate map of Tibet’ preserved in a museum in the Hague. Van der Putte crossed Tibet from Ladakh in 1728, reached Lhasa and met the Capuchins. The following year he went north-north-east of Lhasa, via Dam, a town south of Nakchu, and then north-east to the Di-chu, the Tibetan name for the main tributary of the Yangtse north of Chamdo. He ended his outward journey in Mongolia, before returning by the same route to Lhasa, to be the guest of the Capuchins again in 1732. His precise route is unknown, but he must have crossed, or passed nearby the Nyenchen Tanglha mountains.

         From 1745 for some seventy-five years Tibetan travel remained the sole privilege of the British, or Englishmen, as they were termed. Only four parties travelled within the interior. In 1774 Warren Hastings, the first Governor-General of India selected a twenty-seven-year-old East India Company writer, George Bogle, and a surgeon Alexander Hamilton (both were Scots) to go to Shigatse to visit the Panchen Lama, the ruler of the southern Tibetan counties bordering India. Legendary wealth, particularly gold, was in part the reason for this journey. Bogle travelled through Bhutan, where he is said to have introduced the potato, and passed close to Chomolhari (7,326 metres). Reaching Shigatse in November 1774, he found the Panchen Lama had been elsewhere for some three years because of smallpox in the town. The party travelled north into Lhasa county to meet the Panchen, crossing the Yarlung Tsangpo, a river ‘about the breadth of the Thames at Putney’. Relations between Bogle and the Panchen were cordial and there was a subsequent exchange of presents. In due course a Buddhist monastery was even established in Calcutta. This shrine, the Bhot Magan contained artefacts and books from the Tashilumpo monastery in Shigatse; it was a place Tibetan traders could visit during their journeys to India. These trips usually took place in winter to escape the cold of the northern highlands. The Panchen Lama died in 1777, and Bogle a few weeks later, severing this earthly relationship.

         A second politically motivated trip took place in 1783. Lieutenant Samuel 12Turner, a cousin of Hastings, was accompanied by a surgeon, Thomas Saunders, and another, Lieutenant Davis (also a Scot). They followed Bogle’s route to Shigatse to meet the new Panchen Lama, then a child of eighteen months and his Regent, continuing, apparently in the mistaken belief that Shigatse was the genuine seat of power in Tibet. However, it was the Dalai Lama in Lhasa, with the Chinese ambans – the resident imperial representatives – who held the upper hand. Turner described the Tashilumpo in detail, calculated fairly accurately its position and published an illustrated account of his travels shortly before he died nearly twenty years later. After Tibet, Turner took part in the siege of Seringapatam (Srirangapatna, near Mysore), and apparently made a fortune there. His end was less salubrious: ‘seized … with a fit of apoplexy in a low street in London … he was conveyed to a workhouse in Holborn.’ He died ten days later but was buried in somewhat finer style, at St James’s church, Piccadilly.

         Thereafter the focus of attention is upon the first Englishman to reach Lhasa. While this illusory prize went to Thomas Manning in 1811, the two extraordinary trips of Thomas Moorcroft in 1812 and 1819 stand out as tales of mystery, and still leave unanswered questions. Manning sounds an unusual man. He was part of a small literary circle, at the centre of which was Charles Lamb. He travelled to Canton in 1807, and lived in the centre of the Chinese community, a highly eccentric departure for a European. By 1810, when Manning visited Calcutta, he had a flowing beard and wore Chinese costume, which did little to further his application to enter Tibet on a British governmental mission. Instead, he pressed on alone to Bhutan and there met a Chinese general on his way to Gyangtse by chance. Manning had learnt not only Chinese and Tibetan, but had studied traditional medicine. He treated some of the general’s troops, was invited to travel with them to Gyangtse, and reached Lhasa on 9 December 1811. We would learn on our own journeys in the Nyenchen Tanglha to value medical practice as a passport to friendly relations. Manning sought and was granted an audience with the Dalai Lama, perhaps because he adopted so many of the habits of those with whom he lived and travelled – the very reason the British authorities had cold-shouldered him. He spent a pleasant four months in the capital, unlike Turner, dying in his own bed aged sixty-eight, in 1840.

         Thomas Moorcroft was from a different school. He is described variously as ‘superintendent of the East India Company’s stud farm’ or a British ‘officer of the Indian Civil Service’. He obtained government permission (British Indian, that is) to travel into western Tibet in 1812, and hired a pundit as a companion ‘with the stipulation that he should make every stride precisely four feet in length’. It is salutary to attempt this nearly impossible task on level ground, even if one is six feet tall. His public motive was trade. On this first journey Moorcroft reached Lake Manasarovar in the far west, before returning to Almora in the foothills of 13the Indian Himalaya. Moorcroft was to travel again in this region, at least to the Tibetan borders, and presumably when he first left India in 1812 he been unaware of Thomas Manning’s journey to Lhasa the year before.

         Thomas Moorcroft’s second trip was more mysterious, though less fortunate. In 1819 he set out again from India on a lengthy journey which was to last six years – or seven, or nineteen years, depending upon the version you choose. By 1824 he was at Kashgar in Turkestan (now Xinjiang), rather than in western Tibet, once again under the guise of trade. The following year one of his companions sent word home that Moorcroft had died of fever, on 27 August 1825, on the road between Bokhara and Balkh. The East India Company recorded the date of his demise as being a year later, in 1826. A subsequent traveller and writer, Abbé Huc, will tell a very different story.

         Régis-Evariste Huc and Joseph Gabet were two Lazarist priests who reached Lhasa in January 1846. Whether they had heard of Thomas Manning (whose own record was published long after Huc’s), is open to doubt, and until Huc arrived in Lhasa he had not known of Moorcroft. Huc described a visitor more recent than Manning, who left in 1812, and recorded with some certainty that it had been Thomas Moorcroft himself. The story Huc related was that Moorcroft had arrived in Lhasa in 1826. He checked his sources carefully with the Dalai Lama’s Regent, with a man named Nisan whom he believed had been Moorcroft’s servant, and with the leader of the Lhasa Muslims. Huc was told that a man named Moorcroft used to dress as a Muslim and did not speak much Tibetan, conversing instead in Persian. He would thus talk only with Lhasa Muslims, an old community, and with Kashmiri traders, among whom his features would blend in. Huc had also been told that Moorcroft had then lived in Lhasa for twelve years and had been murdered on his return journey towards Ladakh in 1838. The authorities had recovered some of his belongings, amongst them maps. Turning to another source, less first-hand than Huc, in my own copy of Sandberg, in an anonymous pencilled note alongside the author’s account, are these forceful words: ‘The man referred to erroneously as Moorcroft by Huc was SOMEONE ELSE. Moorcroft died in 1825’. I must leave the latter as sheer conjecture, but remain rather convinced by Huc. I have no difficulty picturing an eccentric Englishman settled, until the age of sixty, near the mosque in the Lhasa Muslim quarter just behind our own lodgings in Lhasa.

         With the arrival of Huc and Gabet, and those who may or may not have reached the capital, there began a trickle of travellers who passed through or nearby the regions we visited in 1996, 1997 and 1998. These two priests were the first foreigners we can identify to pass through the Nyenchen Tanglha itself. They had first travelled to Lhasa and in inimitable style recorded their visit, with detailed descriptions of their encounters with living personalities, rather than a dry record of the place itself. Huc had an impish 14sense of humour. Early during their stay the two Lazarists were careful to emphasise their origins as French, rather than British. It is with obvious delight that Huc records the views of the leader of the long-established Muslim community: ‘Pelings [a word meaning foreigners, but here, British] are the most cunning of men. They are getting control of all parts of India, but it is always by trickery rather than by open force. Instead of overturning the authorities, they cleverly try to win them over to their side and share the spoils with them. In Kashmir [his own homeland] there is a saying: “The world is Allah’s, the land is the Pasha’s, but the East India Company rules”.’

         Sadly for them, the wishes of the two French ‘Lamas of the Western Heavens’ to remain in Lhasa and found a mission there were at odds with the views of the Chinese kachin, the governor. After little more than a month they were expelled, but were granted permission to travel east with an escort, via a route unknown to them which would lead to Tsiamdo (Chamdo), the provincial capital of Kham. Although place names differ, and sometimes cause us difficulty, their journey can be followed along the southern extent of the eastern Nyenchen Tanglha, through the towns of Alan-to (Alando), thence crossing the Shargang La to Pelbar and Lha Dze (Lhatse).

         There are several striking features of their account. First, the priests seemed to enjoy themselves, despite the hardships of their journey. Secondly, at that time, it is apparent, even in the smaller towns, there was a strong Chinese presence, civil and military, and Chinese merchants. This charming and vivid narrative must rank as one of the most readable books on Tibet, or of travel anywhere. At the time of its first publication in Paris in 1851 it was a bestseller. They followed the Gya Lam, the great yak highway from Lhasa to Peking towards Lhari (Lharigo, or Jiali, as it is now known). On the way they described the unicorn which ‘long regarded as a fabulous beast really exists in Tibet’. (Sir Joseph Hooker was later to disappoint the public with news that this fabled creature was the two-horned antelope hodsonii.)

         Moving east towards Lhari, they mentioned their first obstacle, the Mountain of the Spirits:

         
            ‘whose summits rise up sheer. The ice and snow do not melt at any season. Its cliffs are as steep as the cliffs by the sea, often the wind fills them with snow. The paths are almost impassable, so steep and slippery is the descent.’

         

         Once surmounted, whether pass or peak is difficult to say, the priests glissaded down:

         
            ‘We sat cautiously down on the edge of the glacier, holding our heels together and pressing them hard on the ice. Then using 15the whip as a rudder we sailed off over the frozen waters with the speed of a train. A sailor would have said we were making at least twelve knots. In our long and numerous journeys we have never encountered a method of travel so comfortable, so speedy and above all refreshing. At the bottom of the glacier, each man retrieved his own horse as best he could, and we continued on our way in common fashion.’

         

         Along this trail to the east they recounted numerous adventures, of other passes, narrow gorges and noted:

         
            ‘along that whole great distance there are continuous vast chains of mountains, divided by cataracts, deep ravines and narrow defiles. Sometimes the mountains are piled and jumbled together in monstrous shapes; at others they follow one another in a regular progression like the teeth of a monstrous saw.’

         

         The final hurdle on the route to Lhay Dze was the Tanda Mountain, almost certainly the Shargang La of my own 1998 journey. They were first told that it was impassable, leading Huc to argue with a local Tibetan noble:

         
            ‘“We managed to cross the Chor-Kou-La, so why not the Tanda?”

            “What is the Chor-Kou-La to the Tanda?” [the Tibetan had replied.]

            “These mountains cannot be compared. Yesterday three men from the Tanda district wanted to try the mountain and two of them disappeared in the snow; the third arrived here this morning, alone and on foot, for his horse was also buried. Of course, you can leave when you want … but you will have to pay for any yaks or horses which die on the journey.”’

         

         After delivering this grim ultimatum, the Tibetan had put out his tongue in salutation, scratched his ear and turned to leave.

         Chastened, yet one suspects disbelieving, Abbé Huc took his Chinese guidebook, perhaps like many of us a little late in the day, to find the route description even worse than anticipated. Three mornings later, with the sky overcast and in strong winds:

         
            ‘We reached the foot of the Tanda, we could see a long dark trail, like a huge caterpillar, winding its way up the slopes … a party of monks returning from a pilgrimage 16… Before we reached the summit the wind began to blow with fury and take the snow with it; the whole mountain seemed to be disintegrating. The climb was so steep that it was too much for man or beast. The horses fell repeatedly and had they not been stopped by great piles of snow, would have rolled down as far as the valley we had just left. Father Gabet, who had never really recovered from the illness caused by our first journey, nearly failed to reach the top of the Tanda; when his strength failed and he was no longer able to hang on to the tail of his horse, he fell exhausted and was almost buried in the snow. The men of the Tibetan escort went to his assistance and after long and painful efforts managed to hoist him as far as the summit. He was more dead than alive; he was ghastly pale, and panted with a noise like a death-rattle.’

         

         Huc and Gabet had travelled along the southern boundary of the Nyenchen Tanglha, immediately below the south face of Sepu Kangri. Some 120 years later, Chris Bonington and I would see those saw-toothed summits, while Elliot Robertson, Pasang and I would cross the Shargang La.

         It is worth considering briefly why these journeys were described as being so difficult, whereas today it would be a gross exaggeration to describe them as arduous; we would not claim to be stronger, or fitter than these travellers, who were frequently recording twenty or thirty miles on foot a day. First, the memories of the writer may have been amplified; Huc’s journal was written several years after the event. Secondly, in bad weather, that can arrive unannounced within minutes, a gentle walk can become a nightmare. But the crux of the matter is that it was genuinely colder by several degrees, the glaciers were larger, and these journeys more demanding than they are today. Also, Huc and Gabet were travelling in March and April; the winter snows were unmelted. Spring comes late in Tibet. Theirs was a considerable achievement. The party reached Chamdo after thirty-six days from Lhasa, and made for western China. Neither was to survive for long afterwards. Gabet was to die of yellow fever in Rio de Janeiro in 1853, and Huc in France in 1860 at the age of forty-seven.

         After this personal quest for the first Europeans to visit the region which entranced us, I read many more travellers’ tales. None gave us more information, though several highlighted the dangers and difficulties of these parts of Tibet. One that deserves mention is Brigadier-General George Pereira, who wrote little other than his own meticulous diaries. His journeys in the 1920s were little known until Sir Francis Younghusband, some twenty years after his own invasion of Lhasa, published an account of Pereira’s journey there in 1921–22 from Sechuan, western China. Pereira had followed Huc and 17Gabet’s route in reverse along the Gya Lam. He travelled alone and recruited local Tibetans as guides. Reaching Chamdo in September 1922, he travelled west to Tengchen (also Dingchen), and then south towards the Shargang La, crossed by Huc and Gabet some seventy years earlier.

         While Pereira wrote his diary, little did he know that one Sechuan student, Deng Xiaoping, had already completed his studies nearby, latterly under the guidance of the revolutionary Wu Yuzhang in Chongqing; by 1920 Deng had already left for France. He would soon become a distinguished military commander and later Chairman of the People’s Republic of China. Deng’s predecessor in this latter role was a less scholarly figure, Mao Dzedong, from Hunan, further west. He was already thirty. It would not be long before the British Empire Pereira knew would have vanished. Pereira died, probably of a perforated gastric ulcer, on the Chinese border of Tibet in 1923. It is easy to digress and to become irritated by this account, and miss his real legacy, a 1:2,500,000 map. This was painstakingly assembled from his observations and published by the War Office in 1925. North-west of the Shargang La is marked, unnamed, a range rising above the 6,000-metre contour in the very position of Sepu Kangri, though there is almost no description of these mountains in his text.

         Another goal drew expeditions to eastern Tibet, the sources of great rivers. Throughout the latter part of the nineteenth century doubt had surrounded the eastern route of the Tsangpo. Having risen in Tibet, the river courses south through the Himalaya into Assam to become the Brahmaputra. There had been speculation that it might have continued east and have flowed into the Irrawady. In the twentieth century the focus shifted to the sources of the Salween and the Mekong. In 1935 two British explorers, Ronald Kaulback and John Hanbury-Tracy, walked from Burma into eastern Tibet, mapping and tracing the Salween gorge. They reached the town of Diru (also Biru, Nakchubiru), to be told by the Tibetan authorities that their proposed journey west and on to Lhasa was out of the question because of robber bands. They walked back to Fort Hertz, in Burma, ending this marathon in 1937. Whilst they had passed close to the northern side of the Nyenchen Tanglha, and within two days of Sepu Kangri, we later came to understand why they had not seen the massive range just to the south. From the north Sepu Kangri remains hidden in a maze of valleys until one is directly beneath it.

         As a finale to these European travellers’ tales, there is story of Guibaut and Liotard in 1940. André Guibaut was the Free French envoy in China during the Second World War. He and his friend Louis Liotard were exploring the upper Mekong and Salween gorges when they were attacked by bandits. Liotard was shot dead, and Guibaut lucky to escape. Liotard was awarded a posthumous Legion d’Honneur by de Gaulle after the war, while Guibaut went on to become French Consul-General in Singapore, Casablanca and 18Cambodia before his death in 1966. There was thus a somewhat ominous history of European travel in this region.

         Early Tibetan and Chinese sources proved more difficult to locate than those of Europeans, and even now we have but a sparse selection of data. We will, I think, never know the detailed Chinese guidebook used by Abbé Huc. There is however a slim paperback by a Chinese woman, Ma Lihua, who was born in 1953 and later became vice-chair of Writers’ Association of Tibet. She clearly loved this landscape and the people, and tells in glowing terms of her seven journeys to northern Tibet. The topography is sometimes hard to follow. She writes about the quelling of nomadic robber gangs and warlords of eastern Tibet after ‘Liberation’, and the monasteries, local legends and customs in the aftermath of the Cultural Revolution. The destruction and cruelty had affected even these remote areas. She mentions the Nagru and Tashi valleys, which are north-west of Sepu Kangri, as a former Hidden Kingdom, cut off from the outside world, lands of peace and plenty, where even wild animals were tame. She never reached these valleys herself. She also describes Mount Khamsun, nearby, which is probably another name for Sepu Kangri: ‘Sadnam Dorje described it to me with the vision of a poet: all the mountains in Tibet are like nymphs in a supine posture, and Mount Khamsun stands on the left breast of a nymph. The nine snow-capped peaks are like a galloping horse’s mane streaming in the wind and the nine lakes on these peaks are wrapped in cloud and mist. From the peaks big and small waterfalls cascade like white silk scarves when viewed from a distance’.

         There the trail ended, at least until we reached Sepu Kangri itself. The reader may wonder whether we found the route to Sepu Kangri by carrying a small but valuable library of old books and a large folder of historical cartography. The reality was rather different. When Chris Bonington and I first reached Sepu in 1996 we were using a tourist map bought at the airport, an old photo which the local Diru postmistress had produced from her handbag and the Chinese book on mountains – and little else. Even the best research sometimes follows a discovery.
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            3 Mrs Donkar’s Handbag

            2–13 August 1996

            Chris Bonington

         

         It was 2 August 1996. I was standing outside the Wembley Conference Centre waiting for Charlie. It seemed a strange way to start an expedition. I had just finished making a motivational presentation describing my ascent of Everest to several thousand hyped up pyramid-sellers. We were due that night to fly to Delhi on the first leg of our journey to our secret mountain. Charlie’s wife Ruth was going to deliver him to the conference centre, so that my son Rupert could drive us to Heathrow. Charlie was late. I’m always neurotic about flying – not afraid of the flying, but terrified of missing the plane. I like to be there in stacks of time.

         A car pulled in and there was Charlie, looking rather plump but elegant in a faded, almost effete kind of way, in a striped blazer and jeans – ‘Useful for getting upgrades and seeing ambassadors,’ he assured me. ‘I bought the blazer at Oxfam.’ In spite of greying hair, he has a youthful charm.

         He packed yet more boxes and duffel bags into my already heavily laden estate car and we were off. We were on our holidays. I had a wonderful sense of freedom, anticipation and excitement. It was the snatched nature of our venture, the way we had grabbed the opportunity with the minimum of organisation or planning. I like small trips and Charlie is fun to be with. Oddly enough, although he had been with me on four expeditions since 1975 and we collaborated in the book on the 1982 Everest expedition, I still felt that I didn’t really know him. There is an elusive quality about Charlie – urbane, worldly, with a delightful twinkling sense of humour. But there is a reserve as well, a door in his personality that seems firmly shut. Maybe it’s the years of practising medicine, of remaining objective. I was looking forward to getting to know him better in the way that one does on any small trip in the mountains.

         As Charlie and I sat in some luxury in the Executive Club lounge, having sneaked an upgrade to Business Class courtesy of British Airways, it began to dawn on both of us that we had almost no idea of where we were going. We made a list of things we did not know. We did not know how to approach Sepu Kangri from the north, south, east or west. We had little idea of the roads, no inkling of what the terrain was like, and no information about the weather, the availability of food, yaks or petrol. We were unaware whether we needed 20to take Chinese staff with us, or what permits were required, or whether or not we could visit monasteries – the list of blanks seemed endless. All we knew for certain was that the coordinates of Sepu Kangri were 30.91°N, 93.78°E, figures that recurred on several maps. I daydreamed about what the range might be like. Having been to Tibet several times I thought of barren hills, wide treeless valleys, the rolling wastes of the plateau with featureless peaks, many rising to over 6,000 metres. Perhaps the country around Sepu would be like that: I simply did not know.

         We flew into Kathmandu, failed to meet the mysterious Tse Dorje, our Tibetan Mr Fixit, who was to arrange everything with the authorities in Tibet. ‘He’s gone to Lhasa’, we heard. Visas were however ready at the Chinese embassy; we caught the Lhasa flight on 5 August, seeing little of Everest or the Himalaya, since they were clad in monsoon clouds. We wondered if we were going to be met, or whether any arrangements at all had been made. The plane was a big new Boeing 757, crammed with tourists from many different countries and just a few Tibetans, some of them in the saffron robes of monks. We got through immigration and customs more quickly and easily than we had a few days earlier when passing through Kathmandu, and to our immense relief on the other side of the barrier stood a young Tibetan bearing a notice with ‘BONINGTON’ written on it. He introduced himself as Pasang and told us that he was our guide. We were to get to know him well in the coming weeks.

         It is a two-hour drive from Gonkar airport to the city of Lhasa. At first the capital seems much like any other enlarging Chinese city, but Tibetan villages give way to sprawling outskirts. Trees are being felled to make the roads yet wider. But the military presence is immediately striking; army convoys are often on the highway, and there are many barracks. Armed sentries, immaculately turned out, stand to attention outside the ornate gates of the military compounds.

         We were booked into the Lhasa Holiday Inn, a complex of interlinked concrete blocks just outside old Lhasa. How the city had changed since the drab days of 1982, my first visit, when we had had that glimpse of the mountains that were now luring us back. I had visited Tibet several times since then, but had spent only one night in Lhasa on our return from Menlungtse in 1988, on the way to Beijing. We had stayed in the Holiday Inn on that occasion too and had come across Reinhold Messner, arguably the world’s most famous mountaineer. Having become the first person to climb all fourteen of the world’s 8,000-metre peaks, he was directing his boundless energy in other directions, undertaking a series of long ice walks in polar regions and researching a book on the culture of mountain people around the world. He had just returned from a trip to eastern Tibet and was convinced that he had seen the yeti.21

         We had chosen the hotel’s Tibetan restaurant for our evening meal and had it to ourselves. After we had been dressed in traditional Tibetan coats in the best tourist fashion, Charlie produced a bottle of champagne. I had almost forgotten that it was my birthday – it was 6 August and I was sixty-two. The following day, Pasang came to collect us and we called at the office of Tibet International Sports Travel (TIST) who were looking after our journey. It emerged that they knew no more than we did about the area around Sepu Kangri. No one from their office had ever been there, but Mr Su Ping, their general manager, assured us that all our paperwork was in order and that Pasang would take good care of us.

         The greatest difference that struck me at this stage, since my first visit in 1982, was the arrival of capitalism. Although TIST was a local Tibetan government organisation, it was obviously running on a strong market force base. Mr Su Ping was also managing director of a bottled water company and the big modern-looking hotel next door. Mobile phones were very much in evidence, but more importantly they really seemed to want to give us good service and value for money, something very different from previous mountaineering trips in China when we had been faced with endless negotiations and red tape.

         We also found time to get an impression of the changes that had taken place since our last visit. Charlie observes:

         
            ‘Lhasa inspires many different emotions. Since 1980 the capital has had tens of thousands of European visitors. It is no longer the Forbidden City, no longer a place enshrined in, or perhaps imprisoned by, the old religious culture. In one sense Lhasa epitomises many of the issues in Tibet, though change is faster and more pronounced here than elsewhere. Few visitors fail to have strong feelings about this city. Many views are divergent, but, perhaps curiously, affection for Lhasa remains dominant. This affection is in contrast to a sense of increasing distaste many regular visitors develop for Kathmandu. I am appalled by the pollution of the Kathmandu valley, the poverty and the gradual drift away from the charming, culturally distinct, idiosyncratic city it used to be. This is despite, or because of a wealth of western aid.

            Nearer the centre of town there are little shops, car and truck mechanics, eating houses, bars, pool tables and, most prominently, prostitutes. There is nothing covert about prostitution in Lhasa; it is open and, to the unspecialist eye, entirely Chinese. From tiny booths the girls advertise their wares, with garish lipstick, plastered make-up, skirts split 22thigh-high and seamed stockings. As in Amsterdam, one soon becomes used to the sex industry. But there is a dual irony here. This was the Holy City of a religion that celebrated celibacy: it is like having brothels in the Vatican City. While in China before Mao’s accession prostitution was one of the hated hallmarks of the old regime, that, together with opium and feudalism, had denigrated the Chinese people. The word “prostitution” was even banned from conversation in the idealistic epicentre of the early Communist Party.

            Today Lhasa has a population of 160,000, which includes an immigrant Han Chinese population of nearly 50,000, increasing annually, and encouraged by central government. The latter figure is probably an underestimate. With such an influx there is economic pressure; it clear that new Lhasa is a thriving, bustling, modern city. New building, in the concrete, glass and the white tile of modern China, is rife. Brash supermarkets, banks, department stores, fashion houses and camera shops dominate the new city centre.

            Sixteen years ago, in March 1982, on my first visit I had found a drab place, and one still emerging from a period of depression and the Cultural Revolution. At that time the Six Point Directive of Hu Yaobang, Communist Party Secretary, had brought the first economic and cultural concessions to Tibet and these were beginning to take effect. They were accompanied by calls for refugees abroad to return home. In a later era Hu Yaobang’s death in 1989, with the apparent extinction of his liberal views, led indirectly to the student demonstrations and the killings of Tiananmen Square.

            In 1982 the rebuilding of the monasteries had begun. There was however little to see other than the ancient monuments of Lhasa, the Potala, the Jokhang Temple and Lhasa’s great surviving monasteries. The Barkhor, the old market surrounding the Jokhang, was dismal. Then, few Tibetans engaged us in conversation; there was none of the jostle, laughter or bartering of the present-day bazaar.

            I found the lack of abject poverty in Lhasa striking. Of course, Lhasa has its beggars but they are few, and they are often beggars on religious grounds.

            “They’ve destroyed most of the old city,” is a frequent warning to travellers. I showed Chris the map of Lhasa in Graham Sandberg’s book, dated 1904. I found the old city limits almost identical today to what they were then and, whilst in surrounding 23new Lhasa the buildings are modern, and often to western eyes monstrous, in the old city rebuilding is with traditional granite blocks, the wooden window sills and architraves, which are so characteristic of Tibetan houses. I thought of the dreadful new buildings obscuring St Paul’s cathedral in London.

            The people in Lhasa seemed lively, reasonably prosperous and relaxed but our views, like that of any tourist, were superficial. Pasang felt sufficiently confident to invite us to his home, the first time either Chris or I had ever been invited to meet the family of a Chinese citizen. His small two-room flat was on the rooftop of a typical old Barkhor tenement. It opened on to an open veranda, filled with flowering pot plants, round a central courtyard. There was a cabinet full of religious artefacts down one wall, a big refrigerator and television – a combination of old and modern. We ate a superb Tibetan meal, washed down with beer and chatted with Pasang, while his wife, Yishi, looked after our needs with a quiet but friendly dignity.

            There is, however, in Lhasa and throughout Tibet an aura of control that is Chinese. Public political dissent is likely to be punished with imprisonment. You could argue that the Chinese are consistent, treating people in Tibet no differently from the rest of their citizens, but the fact remains that whatever legal claims China might or might not have had on Tibet, they invaded a country in 1950 that had, in effect, been independent for over fifty years. The condition of occupation remains, already over a generation old. There can be little doubt that if a referendum were held tomorrow a substantial majority of Tibetans would vote for self-rule and the return of the Dalai Lama.’

         

         We were glad to leave the Holiday Inn on the morning of 8 August and drove proudly out in a Jinbei 2.8 diesel truck, a pick-up with a cabin, which seated five with ease. The kit bounced around in the open back. Our short stay in Lhasa had been smooth and uneventful. The mysterious Tse Dorje put in a brief appearance to slip $10,000 into his back pocket. Our team had assembled. Pasang Choephel was our guide, interpreter and, as would emerge, a determined and wily supporter of our enterprise. He was twenty-eight. He had learnt English in India, where he had fled in the 1980s after an early training spent painting monastic tangkhas. But he had disliked living in an alien culture in northern India and returned to Lhasa in the late 1980s where he had married Yishi.

         Mingma was to be cook. His qualifications for this important task were never established. It soon became clear that he was simply Pasang’s next door 24neighbour who had been out of a job. Cheerful, energetic and helpful, Mingma’s culinary skills were those of the average eighteen-year-old male: zero. Tsering was the driver and owner of the Jinbei truck, which he had just bought; he was a careful, quiet and sober man. Throughout the expedition he wore a gabardine golfing jacket, a trilby hat and pair of black shoes with pointed toes, emphasising his city origins. We were soon to recognise his driving abilities and felt safe in his hands: a change from the white-knuckle rides which are so familiar in Asia.
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